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Corporate Information

Who We Are

Mission

Core Values

We are Purple! We are creating affordable lifestyle experiences for our consumers through our principal 
investments in superior mixed-use facilities and services.

Our lifestyle services spans through real estate, retail, e-commerce, media and advertising, entertainment and 
family fun, financial services amongst others, all focused on driving our mission to create lifestyle experiences 
for our consumers with convenience, affordability and finesse.

Our new focus is clear, working with our range and network of partners, we are creating lasting experiences 
for people across all income levels by investing in lifestyle infrastructure and value creation.

We are creating the ultimate lifestyle experience for our consumers with convenience, affordability and finesse; 
leveraging our market knowledgelexpertise as well as network to attract, invest and deliver positive alpha 
returns to our investors. Our lifestyle portfolio of developments include PurpleMaryland, PurpleLekki, 
PurpleLiving, Redworth Terraces and Bishopsgate Residences.

We are creating affordable lifestyle experiences for our consumers through our principal investments in 
superior mixed-use facilities and services.

As a company, we have a PACT to ensure organizational excellence across all our business endevors;
we do this through:

DCBBPersistence Audacity Collaboration Transparency

We stay focused 
on our goals in 

spite of 
obstacles.

We Are willing 
to take bold and 
calculated risks.

We understand 
that to go 

further, we have 
to go together.

We are visible, 
accessible and 

direct in our 
business 
dealngs.
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Board of Directors

Registered Office

10, Da Silva Street
Off Chris Madueke Drive
Admiralty Way
Lekki Phase 1, Lagos

Company Secretary

Bloomfield Law Practice
15, Agodogba Avenue
Parkview,
Ikoyi, Lagos

Principal Bankers

Stanbic IBTC Bank Plc

Purple Money Microfinance
Bank Limited

Company Registration No

RC 1185154

Tax Identification No

22514221-0001

350/360, Ikorodu road
Maryland, Lagos

Business Office Independent Auditor

KPMG Professional Services
KPMG Tower,
Bishop Aboyade Cole Street,
Victoria Island, Lagos.
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Opportunity within Chaos

What began as an isolated flu-like illness in the 
province of Wuhan, China in December 2019 has 
continued to keep the world in a state of relative 
uncertainty; and inevitably sets the backdrop for 
another annual report. The world has changed 
significantly since the outbreak of Covid 19, and 
continues to evolve in the year that the worst of the 
pandemic seems to have passed.

Last year, we informed you about the steps we took in 
response to the pandemic. This year, our introduction 
addresses how these decisions played out and how we 
have managed to create opportunities and thrive within 
chaos.

2021 Review

Nigerian Economy
Not many analysts predicted Nigeria’s economy would recover as quickly as it has done from the lockdown of 
2020 and 2021 as well as other challenges. However, Q4 2021 marked the 5th straight quarter that the Nation 
recorded growth figures, solidifying the end of a brief covid induced recession. Whilst this sounds good on 
paper, inflationary pressures and foreign exchange constraints had a marked dampening on the state of the 
economy in 2021. 

Nigeria continued its reliance on crude oil as its main source of income, contributing over 70% of Government 
Revenue. A resurgent price per barrel, recovering from 2020 slumps as low as $20, hitting $83 in November 2021 
would give cause for optimism. However, dwindling crude exports still resulted in a 50.5% performance as 
against government estimates. Data from Nigeria's statistics bureau revealed an import bill that skyrocketed by 
51.1% year-on-year to N8.15 trillion in Q3 2021, representing the highest figure on record. With the country still 
unable to meet oil production quota, its highest FX revenue generator not operating to its fullest potential, piled 
more pressure on the exchange rate. 

In terms of foreign remittances, foreign portfolio investments of $551 million and direct investments at $77.97 
million were recorded in 2021, both significantly lower compared to pre-pandemic levels. The non-oil sector 
grew, with Telecoms, Trade and Agriculture leading the way. Agriculture grew by about 4% compared to 
previous year’s GDP. Conversely, the government’s revenue records for CIT and VAT exceeded budgeted 
amounts indicating some resilience in the private sector and stronger compliance. 

Nigeria's annual inflation rose to 18.17%, rising for the 19th consecutive month in March 2021 amid continued 
effects of the pandemic. Higher transportation costs and consistent disruptions in the supply chain resulted in 
widespread price increases; and the general population continue to see the value of their earnings depreciate. 
Food inflation reached a 16-year record high of 22.95% in March 2021.

Negative trade balance pressures, reduced remittances and FDI from the diaspora, lower capital inflows, and 
lower crude oil exports all combined to increase pressure on the exchange rate. The official Naira exchange rate 
averaged N410.3:US$1 through most of the year, but by year end, closed at N435:US$1. Meanwhile, the Naira 
suffered a similar decline in the parallel market as rates at the end of the year stood at N565:US$1, down 22.8%. 
The continued volatility of the parallel market exacerbated the gulf in rates against the official rate from last 
year's difference of N49.75 to N140.74. 

Mr Olutola Mobolurin; CHairman, Purple
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Real Estate Sector
The Real Estate Sector witnessed some positivity in 2021 as evidenced by a 3.85% growth in GDP recorded in 
Q2 2021. Investment in all sectors since 2020 has been quite encouraging, led by domestic players who are 
reported to have contributed 71% of all investment within the country in 2021, a new record. The Real Estate 
Sector was not left out as we saw landmark fund raises throughout the year. 

The residential market continued to churn out houses buoyed by the short-let boom, as well as the shift in work 
culture to Work From Home especially with organizations adopting hybrid strategies, the market for larger 
houses to accommodate the home office has also increased. With the lockdowns and social unrest, a very 
recent memory for many Nigerians, gated, well located, mixed use communities offer solutions to home 
seekers. Short-lets also present a local getaway option for many consumers providing tasteful home away from 
home experiences. Demand for health care and industrial assets such as isolation centres, data centres, quick 
service retail centres and warehouses have also been on the rise creating an interesting new market for less 
conventional real estate assets, which have become more relevant since the pandemic. 

National and sub-national governments have also introduced some key interventions to bring more safety and 
control to real estate transactions. The Lagos State Government is taking significant steps to cut down on 
fraudulent activities; Introducing a database for real estate practitioners through the Lagos State Real Estate 
Regulatory Authority (LASRERA). This measure will ensure that anyone looking to engage in the real estate 
business is registered with the Authority and conforms to its provisions, effectively creating a global regulating 
body for real estate within Lagos State

   
Our Strategy
Our response to the unfavorable conditions above was a 3-pronged approach in dealing with both the greatest 
challenge modern medicine has faced as well as an economic instability. We made significant changes to our 
Operations, Financial and Organizational Structure and Product 

Chairman's Introduction
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Product
Our team utilised a flexible strategy tweaking our end-to-end real estate business designed to take advantage 
of all the gaps, looking at products that would fit effectively into where the industry currently is. Our mixed 
short stay, long stay business received a boost with the introduction of professional international management 
taking advantage of the upward demand of this specialized residential sub-set. This is in addition to deploying 
our wealth of experience in marketing to attract a variety of successful brands in the food and drink business, 
with the expectation that these will drive the quality of experiences at these facilities upwards.

Financial & Organizational
The company embarked on its journey to go public, creating the opportunity to access the buoyant equities 
market where, according to data from the NGX, over 39 billion Units worth US$541.1billion were traded in the 
first 6 months of 2021. Exiting dollar denominated loans from the company’s books was also a huge priority, as 
the scarcity and fluctuations in price erodes shareholder value. Replacing this with long term institutional 
funding was identified as the ideal way to fund our development plan sustainably.  This has led us to look 
towards Sukuk financing as well as bond issuances. 

As at the time of writing this, the company has also taken steps to combine the operations of our two vehicles, 
PREIL and PREDCO allowing the enlarged PREIL to benefit from cost savings to be derived through maximizing 
operational efficiencies. The Scheme was effected under Section 711 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act of 
2020. We believe this change will significantly enhance portfolio optimization, coordination and reduce the risk 
of duplications across both businesses. This will improve efficiency through more focused management of 
resources and potentially lead to revenue enhancement because of the synergistic benefits arising from 
economies of scale and scope as well as improved competitiveness, due to the alignment of the existing 
individual strengths of the Companies.

Operational
The company adopted a belt tightening strategy within its assets to weather the worst of the storm, 
reorganizing the services and workforce within PurpleMaryland to match the reduced footfall. This streamlining 
helped the team determine a new baseline for services and allowed us to scale services efficiently as things 
returned to normal, deriving a lower cost profile for managing the asset. However, these positive measures 
have been undermined by the estimated 35% increase in the cost of real estate products and services partially 
brought about by foreign exchange pressures. We have maintained robust safety and security measures, 
boosting investor and customer confidence and we have felt the benefits of this - recording another year 
without civil unrests affecting our locations. 

Corporate Governance 
Corporate governance played a large part in the successful outcome of this year. Our continued belief in a 
robust, transparent structure and reporting framework has allowed us to make timeous interventions and 
business decisions which have helped chart the right path and accelerate the growth of the company despite 
the harsh conditions earlier discussed. The Company continues to support worthy causes including Child Cancer 
Awareness, Women Empowerment and Mentoring / Education.

The Board & Board Committees have also undergone some change with Mrs. Fiona Aihimie and Mrs. Osareme 
Archibong joining the group as Independent Directors, whilst Mrs. Osareme Archibong was also appointed 
Independent Chairman of the restructured Finance, Investment and Strategy Committee. The committee was 
previously the Audit Finance and Strategy Committee. All other Board Committees remained the same.
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The Board and Committees met at least four times each in 2021 and also held an Annual General Meeting. 

This year also marks the end of my nine-year Chairmanship of the Company, although, I continue to serve as an 
Adviser to the Board. I remain confident that the team will continue to excel under the guidance and 
Chairmanship of Mrs. Jumoke Akinwunmi who has been invaluable to the Board in recent years. It has been a 
pleasure being part of the Purple Story and we eagerly anticipate the next phase of what is certain to be an 
exciting journey of sustained growth, landmark achievements and value creation for the Company, its people 
and the communities in which it operates.

Chairman's Introduction
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CEO’s Statement
This has been an important and impactful year in the 
context of the Purple Journey. Much like the year before 
it, 2021 was rammed full of new challenges amidst a 
continuously changing economic and political landscape 
as the world carried on with its adaptation to a new 
normal. 

For Purple, the year was filled with significant 
milestones as the company consolidated its real estate, 
financial services and technology pipelines, onboarding 
exciting new projects and setting off on a path of 
phenomenal growth. These outcomes seemed at odds 
with the sometimes restrictive operating climate 
experienced in 2021. The successes attained in 2021 are 
the culmination of years of focus on our product – 
market fit and embodying persistence and audacity, 
two of our core values at Purple. 

2021 Review
While the direct effects of the global pandemic gradually receded throughout the year, many of the necessities 
from the pandemic have become more commonplace. The Real Estate sector has seemingly continued to 
demand more all inclusive and pandemic proof assets in response to the current operating environment, and we 
have seen Mixed use solutions like ours continue to provide answers to a lot of the problems faced. This is 
evidenced by the continued uptake in our mixed use assets and similar concepts springing up in the Lagos 
Metropolis. Tech has also been a focus for us this year and our product ecosystem has grown ever more cloud 
based, effectively morphing the group into a tech powered real estate business, amplifying access and 
affordability of its brick and mortar developments via intelligent online solutions, gradually bridging the gap to 
a whole new audience for the Group.

Structure
Purple embarked on a restructuring of the organization, optimizing our operations and holding structure to 
prepare for the next phase of exponential growth. The company began the process of registering as the first 
Real Estate Investment Company (REICO) under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission of Nigeria 
(SEC). This transition will also see the company become a publicly listed entity. Our interpretation of the REICO 
structure will allow the company to consistently raise and reinvest funds towards new resilient mixed use 
developments and other investment grade real estate assets. The company also acquired an asset management 
license and applied for a property management license enabling the company to independently manage all 
facets of the transition to the REICO structure. 

Fundraising
Despite the relatively harsh operating environment, the team was successful in its efforts to raise capital in the 
market. 2021 saw Purple raise over N12 billion within the year across various instruments. The company and its 
offerings continued to prove attractive to institutional investors as well as HNIs and smaller retail investors with 
over N10 billion secured via two issuances of N5billion each from the development finance institution, Bank of 
Industry guaranteed by Keystone Bank Limited as well as via a N5 billion Sukuk Bond which was 100% 
subscribed and funded under a private issuance. About N2 billion was also raised via equity issuance. 

As part of our growth plans and in tandem with our plans for REICO registration, Purple will issue via an Initial 
Public Offer ordinary shares of PREIL, under a N50 billion Equity Programme and also issue bonds through a 
special purpose vehicle to Qualified Institutional Investors.

The proposed Equity and Bond issuance will be under specified equity and bond programmes that will help 
PREIL continually raise capital for its development and acquisition plans into the future. 

Mr Olayide Agboola; CEO, Purple
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PurpleMaryland
Our flagship mixed use development, Purple Maryland continued its resurgence from the effects of the Covid-19 
Lockdowns which saw footfall drop over 40% in 2020. 2021 saw the retail, coworking and entertainment hub 
return to over 1,000,000 recorded visits for the year as our customers visited new retail and office destinations 
like GREE, Lontor and Chippercash. The end of the year also ushered in the introduction of new supermarket 
anchors Market Square bringing in a refreshing grocery and supermarket product range to the Maryland Area. 
The new store will be their 21st in Nigeria, bringing their great prices and quality products to a new 1,000 + SQM 
hub in the Lagos mainland. Further buttressing the reemergence of human traffic at the centre are the elevated 
parking figures which are back to 70% of pre-covid levels.
PurpleMaryland maintained its high occupancy rate of cir 98% as tenant confidence remained high. Our 
strategy of building and growing with a strong group of homegrown tenants has continued to reap benefits, 
keeping attrition levels low at this centre. Our commitment to working with these businesses has ensured that 
both ourselves and the tenants can continue to thrive. These alliances have been instrumental in also filling up 
our other mixed use centres. 

Our strategic location continues to prove viable for numerous brands hoping to spread high impact messages in 
the heart of Lagos. New visuals from Kuda Bank, Opay, Jumia Food and other brands lit up Ikorodu Road with 
their campaigns, whilst our usual annual clients stood with us yet again.  Collections at Purple Maryland 
improved this year with the leasing and centre management teams recording a 37% increase as compared to 
last year across all revenue lines. Purple Maryland continues to maintain a modest maintenance budget 
estimated at less than 60% the budgeted amounts due to the consistent efforts of our in house team.

Purple Lekki

PurpleLekki, Our mixed use oasis has begun redefining the Freedom Way Skyline already. Construction of the 
‘New Black” began in 2020 and the positive reception Purple Lekki has received has reinforced our convictions, 
selling out the Nano Residences and achieving over 90% Retail occupancy a full year before its anticipated 
opening. Established brands like Market Square, Ventures Park, Ruff N Tumble, Essenza, Vestar Coffee and HSE 
Gourmet amongst others are also in various levels of discussions to take up key spaces within the retail and 
office portion of the building. Purple Lekki again embodies our development ethos, which focuses on 
established, traffic generating domestic retailers featuring affordable premium quality as well as essential 
goods. Purple Lekki will feature International Standard Short and Long Stay Management for its Nanos as well 
as high quality Entertainment and culinary services in the 6 lounge and fine dining establishments within the 
complex. Construction has reached the third floor level, with the iconic building set to open in phases, starting 
with the retail and co working sections launching before the end of 2022.
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CEO’s Statement

Purple Living
Purple Living, our umbrella residential brand has picked up the pace in 2021, as work kicked off on our pipeline 
of over 600 homes and counting. The Macro Site has been secured and construction is expected to begin in 
2022. We have also included the International Standard Short and Long Stay Management at this location to 
offer a distinctive experience to residents of the Macros.  Development on the Sukuk funded Purple Urban took 
off towards the end of the year 2021 with foundation works for the first phase consisting of cir 110 units. As at 
April 2022, the foundations for the 4Bedroom & Penthouse Units have been completed. 

Affordable Student Housing
The well publicized housing deficit that exists in the country also extends to the various subsectors, including 
student accommodation, with the distribution and quality of available accommodation for students, being quite 
uneven. Affordable student housing also presents an interesting proposition for us at Purple, as it gives us the 
opportunity to really push our development techniques to the limit whilst also providing service that benefits 
students/young people, who are a key demographic we are trying to assimilate into the Purple ecosystem. 

Purple has reached advanced stages to build an initial 1500 bed spaces across identified campuses in Ibadan and 
other locations. The Hostels will consist of containerized common areas and dormitories incorporating elements 
of green construction and IFC Edge principles.

Technology
Tech solutions are driven by solving problems and 
improving processes. Access is one of the key problems that 
has plagued real estate and wealth building in general for 
many civilizations. Real Estate is one of the most traditional 
ways of building and growing wealth. Ownership, 
specifically the ownership of land and landed assets, has 
been the basis of a lot of wealth generation till date. The 
main barrier to accessing real estate investment, today, is 
affordability, with property prices naturally appreciating, it 
has become increasingly difficult for everyone but the 
upper classes to earn the stable, tangible returns real estate 
offers. Even when people are able to access, many 
transactions are subject to other problems like trust and 
transparency as well as the inability to sometimes quickly 
exit or raise liquidity through real estate . 
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Research further reveals over 20,000 real estate related cases are tied up in litigation in Lagos Courts annually, 
coupled with the rising difficulty and cost in managing these real estate assets and, real estate investing could 
be quite tedious. 

Our solution to this is Fractions, A Fractional Real Estate Investment and Exchange application, allowing users 
to invest in much smaller slices of investment grade real estate assets. These fractions can be held, sold, traded 
or gifted on our robust end to end blockchain powered platform.

For retail customers, Fractions provides the opportunity to invest in a diverse array of vetted, clean titled real 
estate assets, earning returns with ease, while Purple deploys its online and offline apparatus to ensure 
customers only have to lift a finger to manage their real estate investments. 

For developers and homeowners, the Fractions platform provides all the tools needed to raise liquidity quicker 
than traditional means with tokenized IPOs and other kinds of equity issuances made possible. The 
incorporation of blockchain technology allows us to further tackle the problems of trust and transparency which 
clearly plague real estate transactions, eliminating middle men and creating an irrefutable trail of ownership as 
well the information security the blockchain technology provides. 

For us, Fractions is a natural progression of our sales and marketing tools, creating a diverse, intuitive 
marketplace for our real estate pipeline, filled with a previously untapped class of retail customers who might 
not have been able to invest in real estate. We are excited for it to be released in 2022, just in time to support 
our IPO. 

Our solutions to access don’t stop there. Our foray into tech extends to our Microfinance Bank, where we are 
deploying solutions to increase access to finance for home rental, businesses and consumers as well as buy now 
pay later for retail through purple.shop, our online retail platform selling everything in our malls and more. Our 
Purplemoney wallet will also allow users a wide range of banking and investment tools to make everyday life 
more convenient. 

Operating Results
As at the end of December 2021, the Group registered a profit before tax of Cir N1.5b. Purple’s total asset value 
exceeded the N26Billion with shareholders funds reaching an excess of N9billion as well. 

The company has managed to remain considerably liquid over the years by imbibing in proper liquidity 

considerable growth in shareholder’s equity which has more than tripled since inception. 

Dividend
The Board declared an interim dividend of 22 Kobo per 50k ordinary share of the Company. The total amount of 
dividend declared is N442.3m for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: N8.7m).

Conclusion
2021 was a year characterized by audacity as we attained new heights amidst a period of great uncertainty. In 
2022, we are propelled to continue the growth trajectory as we embark on an even more ambitious journey to 
register the first Securities and Exchange Commission's Real Estate Investment Company and take our asset 
base from above N26b to well over N70B. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

In Thousands of Naira Group 2021 Group 2020 Company 2021 Company 2020

Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of Purple Real Estate Income Limited (“the Company”) 
and its subsidiary ("the Group"), together with the consolidated financial statements and independent 
auditor’s report for the period ended 31 December 2021.        
      
Legal form             
Purple Real Estate Income Limited ("the Company"), (formerly known as Purple CRE SPV Limited) was 
incorporated as a private limited liability company in Nigeria on 16 April 2014. The change of the Company's 
name from Purple CRE SPV Limited to Purple Real Estate Income Limited was approved on 26 September 2019. 
             
Principal activity            
The principal activities of the Company includes acquisition and execution of investment opportunities in all 
sectors of the economy, to act as property developer and to engage in all associated undertakings including the 
demolition, renovation and refurbishment of buildings, property and facility management.

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the results of Purple Real Estate Income Limited, Maryland 
Mall Limited, Purple Real Estate Developement Company Limited, Purple Proptech Limited, and Lekki 
Retailtainment Limited.            
 
Group Structure            
Purple Real Estate Income Limited has four (4) directly controlled subsidiaries and one (1) indirect subsidiary.
The subsidiaries of Purple Real Estate Income Limited are Maryland Mall Limited, Purple Real Estate 
Development Company Limited, Purple Proptech Limited, Lekki Retailtainment Limited, and Purple Urban 
Limited. The Group offers its services to private, public and corporate clients through a number of products.

These products include purchase, lease, development and management of estate properties to generate rental 
income and other services such as, demolition, renovation and refurbishment of buildings, property and facility 
management.             

Operating results      
The following is a summary of the Group operating results:      

Dividend            
The total amount of Interim dividend declared is N142.3m for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: N8.7m). 
The Board declared an interim dividend of 22 kobo per share for every share held by shareholders as at 25th 
March 2021. The dividend was paid during the year.
Furthermore, the board declared a final dividend on the 29th of April 2022 of 11 kobo per share for exisitng  
shareholders as at 31 December 2021. The dividend would be paid subsequent to the Annual General Meeting 
held in 2022.            
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Analysis of Shareholdings
The shareholding structure of the Company at the end of the year was as follows:     

As required to be disclosed under section 303 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020, there 
are no direct and indirect shareholding of directors in the Company as at 31 December 2021.

Directors interest in contracts
None of the directors has notified the Company for the purpose of section 303 of the Companies and Allied 
Matters Act (CAMA), 2020, of their direct or indirect interest in contracts or proposed contracts with the 
Company during the year.           
             
Investment property
Information relating to changes in investment property is disclosed in Note 11 to these financial statements.

Directors and their Interests

The directors who held office during the year are as follows:

Chairman

Chief Executive Director

Executive Director

Independent Director

Non-Executive Director

Independent Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Olutola Mobolurin

Olayide Agboola

Oluseyi Sowale

Olajumoke Akinwunmi

Prof. Hillary Onyiuke

Johnny Jones

Olatunbosun Omoniyi

Muhtar Bakare

Adedoyin Afun

In Thousands of Naira 2021 2020



Charitable donations
The Group did not make any donation during the year under review (2020: Nil).     
        
Property and equipment 
Information relating to changes in property and equipment is given in Note 12 to the financial statements. In 
the directors' opinion, the realisable value of the Group's property, plant and equipment is not less than the 
value shown in the financial statements. 

Board Meetings
In compliance with the Companies and Allied Matters Act, 2020 (CAMA), the Board meets quarterly. Additional 
meetings are convened as the need arises. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board held four (4) 
meetings, details of attendance are provided below:        
    

Health, safety and welfare at work
The Group places high premium on the health, safety and welfare of its contractors in their place of work. In 
order to protect other persons against risks to health and safety hazards arising out of or in connection with 
the activities at work, the Company has adopted comprehensive safety policies and procedures and set up 
safety committees within the Group, which review safety facilities on a regular basis and make 
recommendations.            
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Mr. Olutola Mobolurin No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

12-Mar-21

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

14-Jul-21

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

11-Oct-21

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

17-Dec-21Names of Directors

Mr. Olayide Agboola

Mr. Muhtar Bakare

Ms. Oluseyi Sowale

Prof. Hillary Onyiuke

Obinna Onunkwo

Sir (Pham) Nnamdi Obi

Olatunbosun Omoniyi

Yes Yes Yes YesMrs. Olajumoke Akinwunmi

Adedoyin Afun

In Attendance: Yes
Not in Attendance: No



19

Directors’ Report

(Events after the reporting period
Subsequent to year end, the deposits for shares in the books of Purple Real Estate Income limited was 
registered with the Corporate Affairs Commission. Purple Real Estate Income Limited based on the board 
resolution communicated a notice for the increase in issued share capital from N19 million to N20.2 million to 
the corporate affairs commission dated 23 December 2020. This was presented for filing and approved on 9 
March 2021 which was subsequent to the Company's financial year end. See Note 20(e) for recognition of 
deposit for shares.
1) The Finance Act was signed into Law on 31 December, 2021, with an effective date of 1 January, 2022. The 
signing into law of the Finance bill on 31 December 2021 qualifies as an adjusting event as the bill had been in 
existence at the end of the financial year. In view of this development, the company has reviewed the 
provisions of the Act and have made appropriate adjustments to the financial estimates disclosed in the 
Financial statement in line with the relevant provisions of the Finance Act.     
(2) In March 2022, PREIL merged with its subsidiary, PREDCO, through a Scheme of Merger.   
(3) Following board resolution, PREIL is pursuing registration as a as a Real Estate Company (REICO) with the 
SEC Nigeria in order to convert it to a Public Liability Company (PLC).      
(4) Following board resolution, PREIL as the Sponsor, plans to issue a Bond through a special purpose vehicle 
to Qualified Institutional Investors. The Proposed issuance is for up to N20billion Series 1 Bond Notes under a 
N50billion Bond programme subject to regulatory approvals       
(5) Following board resolution, PREIL plans to register a N20billion Initial Public Offering (“the Offer”) by 
making its shares available to the public under a N50billion Equity programme to be registered with SEC 
transaction subject to regulatory approvals.
(6) PREIL, as part of its long term proptech and fintech plans invested N125,000,000 in Purplemoney 
Microfinance Bank Limited
(7) The Equity and Bond programmes are to enable PREIL continuously raise capital for its development and 
acquisition plans into the future. 
(8) PREIL, as part of its plans to register as a REICO had acquired Alternative Capital Partners Limited and 
changed its name to Purple Asset Managers Limited.
(9) Furthermore, PREIL through its now merged subsidiary, PREDCO made applications to SEC for a property 
management license and as PREIL also submitted an application to register as a REICO with SEC.
(10) As at the date of completion of the audit, the processing of the applications for asset management and 
property management licenses as well as REICO approval are ongoing with SEC. The intention is to secure the 
necessary regulatory licenses and approval alongside the aforementioned capital raise.
(11) The Board approved to set aside 139,743,358 ordinary shares of 50kobo as an option for management to 
take up on or before 31st December 2022.         
    
             
Independent Auditors
Messrs. KPMG Professional Services, having satisfied the relevant corporate governance rules on their tenure 
in office have indicated their willingness to continue in office as auditors to the Company.In accordance with 
Section 401 (2) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020 therefore, the auditors will be 
re-appointed at the next annual general meeting of the Company without any resolution being passed.  
           
             
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD           
  
             
             
Afun Adedoyin             
FRC/2017/NBA/00000019483           
For: Bloomfield Law Practice           
Company Secretary            
29 April 2022             
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
The directors accept responsibility for the preparation of the annual consolidated and separate financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
the manner required by the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020, Financial Reporting Council of 
Nigeria Act, 2011.       
       
The directors further accept responsibility for maintaining adequate accounting records as required by the 
Companies and Allied Matters Act of Nigeria and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether 
due to fraud or error.       
       
The directors have made an assessment of the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
have no reason to believe the Group and Company will not remain a going concern in the year ahead.  
     
       
       
       
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY:       

       
      

Mr. Olutola Mobolurin
Chairman
FRC/2013/CISN/00000003804 
28 April, 2022

Mr. Olayide Agboola
Chief Executive Officer
FRC/2013/IODN/00000003519
28 April, 2022

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation 
to the Financial Statements

29 April, 202229 April, 2022
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Statement of Corporate Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Further to the provisions of section 405 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020, we, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, hereby certify the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021 as follows:       
       
a) That we have reviewed the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

b) That the audited financial statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state 
a material fact which would make the statements misleading, in the light of the circumstances under which 
such statement was made.

c) That the audited financial statements and all other financial information included in the statements fairly 
present, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company as of and for, 
the year ended 31 December 2021.

d) That we are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls and have designed such internal
controls to ensure that material information relating to the Company is made known to the officer by other 
officers of the companies, during the period end in which the audited financial statements report is being 
prepared.

e) That we have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal controls within 90 days prior to the date 
of audited financial statements, and certifies that the Company's internal controls are effective as of that date.

f) That there were no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect 
internal controls subsequent to the date of our evaluation, including any corrective action with regard to 
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

g) That we have discussed the following information to the Company's auditors:

(i) there are no significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely 
affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarise and report financial data, and have identified for the 
company's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls, and      
(ii) there is no fraud that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company's internal control."      
       
       
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY:        
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Ms. Oluseyi Sowale
Chief Financial Officer
FRC/2020/006/00000021622
28 April, 2022

Mr. Olayide Agboola
Chief Executive Officer
FRC/2013/IODN/00000003519
28 April, 2022 29 April, 202229 April, 2022
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To the Shareholders of Purple Real Estate Income Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Purple Real Estate Income
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “the group”), which comprise:
• the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December, 2021;
• the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income;
• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity;
• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated and separate financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December, 2021, 
and of its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in the manner 
required by the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020 and the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria 
Act, 2011.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 
and separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in 
accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
Nigeria and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Other Information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Corporate 
Information, Directors’ Report, Corporate Governance Report, Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in 
relation to the Financial Statements, Statement of Corporate Responsibility for the Financial Statements and 
Other National Disclosures, but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and in the manner required by the Companies and Allied Matters 
Act (CAMA), 2020 and the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria Act, 2011and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group (and Company)’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group (and Company) or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and separate Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group (and Company)’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group (and Company)’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group (and Company) to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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We communicate with Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Compliance with the requirements of Schedule 5 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), 2020.

i. We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of our audit.

ii. In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from our 
examination of those books.

iii. The Company’s statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are in agreement with the books of account.

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Obaloje J. Oseme
FRC/2012/ICAN/00000004803
For: KPMG Professional Services
Chartered Accountants
Lagos, Nigeria
28 April, 202212 May, 2022
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Consolidated and Seperated Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

The accompanying notes and significant accounting policies form an integral part of these consolidated and 
separate financial statements           
           



Purple Real Estate Income Limited
Annual report 

31 December 2021

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2021

Group Group Company Company
In thousands of naira Notes 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
ASSETS
Non-current assets

Completed investment property 11(a)   11,095,300    10,458,000                   -                            -   
Investment property under development 11(b)     5,934,340      2,010,784                   -                            -   
Property and equipment 12        135,766           90,327                   -                            -   
Intangible assets and goodwill 13        127,898           22,380                   -                            -   
Investment in subsidiary 14                  -                     -        2,631,871             2,044,863 
Total non-current asset   17,293,304    12,581,491      2,631,871             2,044,863 

Current assets
Trading properties under development 15     6,843,346      1,192,425                   -                            -   
Account receivable 16        159,681         167,985                   -                            -   
Other asset 17          79,799      1,617,679      4,011,989                337,591 
Investment securities 18          77,469         150,929           77,469                  42,794 
Cash and cash equivalents 19     1,964,370         792,718             8,749                    2,023 
Total current assets     9,124,665      3,921,736      4,098,207                382,408 
Total assets   26,417,969    16,503,227      6,730,078             2,427,271 

EQUITY
Share capital 20     1,293,970           19,000      1,293,970                  19,000 
Share premium 20(b)        625,628      1,374,993         625,628             1,374,993 
Retained earnings 20(c)     5,956,978      4,637,669         575,485                455,819 
Fair value reserves 20(d)                  -               8,135                   -                            -   
Prepaid share capital reserves 20(e)     1,125,378         503,603      1,125,378                503,603 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent company     9,001,954      6,543,400      3,620,461             2,353,415 

Non-controlling interest 20(f)          (4,687)                  10                   -                            -   
Total equity     8,997,267      6,543,410      3,620,461             2,353,415 
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long term Borrowings 21(c)     8,284,485                   -        3,027,884                          -   
Total non current liabilities     8,284,485                   -        3,027,884                          -   

Current liabilities
Current tax liabilities 22(d)        356,654         154,895             6,860                    6,745 
Other Liablities 23     1,206,433         998,030           74,873                  67,111 
Deferred revenue-deposits from customers 24        281,865         700,871                   -                            -   
Short term borrowings 21(c)     7,291,265      8,106,021                   -                            -   
Total current liabilities     9,136,217      9,959,817           81,733                  73,856 
Total liabilities   17,420,702      9,959,817      3,109,617                  73,856 
Total equity and liabilities   26,417,969    16,503,227      6,730,078             2,427,271 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 20           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                        -        6,543,400 

Profit/(loss) for the year                   -                     -                     -                     -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,314,112 
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -                        -                          -             (8,135)
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,305,977 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Additional Share Capital      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -                     -                        -                          -           525,605 
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           624,274                      -                          -           624,274 
Share issue cost           (2,499)           (2,499)
Transfer of non-controlling interest to equity                     510                510 
Total contributions /(distributions)      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -           621,775                      -                       510      1,147,890 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2021      1,293,970         625,628                   -        1,125,378        5,956,978                 (4,687)      8,997,267 

For the year ended 31 December 2020

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2020 18           19,000      1,374,993                   -          6,489,678                       10      7,883,681 

Loss for the year                   -                     -                     -         (1,933,755)                        -      (1,933,755)
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI 18(d)             8,135                      -                          -               8,135 
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -               8,135       (1,933,755)                        -      (1,925,620)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           503,603                      -                          -           503,603 
Dividend to equity holders                   -                     -                     -                     -                (8,740)                        -             (8,740)
Acquisition of shares of subsidiary - common control                   -                     -                     -                     -                90,486                        -             90,486 
Total contributions /(distributions)                   -                     -                     -           503,603              81,746                        -           585,349 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2020           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                       10      6,543,410 

The accompanying notes and significant accounting policies form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 20           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                        -        6,543,400 

Profit/(loss) for the year                   -                     -                     -                     -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,314,112 
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -                        -                          -             (8,135)
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,305,977 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Additional Share Capital      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -                     -                        -                          -           525,605 
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           624,274                      -                          -           624,274 
Share issue cost           (2,499)           (2,499)
Transfer of non-controlling interest to equity                     510                510 
Total contributions /(distributions)      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -           621,775                      -                       510      1,147,890 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2021      1,293,970         625,628                   -        1,125,378        5,956,978                 (4,687)      8,997,267 

For the year ended 31 December 2020

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2020 18           19,000      1,374,993                   -          6,489,678                       10      7,883,681 

Loss for the year                   -                     -                     -         (1,933,755)                        -      (1,933,755)
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI 18(d)             8,135                      -                          -               8,135 
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -               8,135       (1,933,755)                        -      (1,925,620)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           503,603                      -                          -           503,603 
Dividend to equity holders                   -                     -                     -                     -                (8,740)                        -             (8,740)
Acquisition of shares of subsidiary - common control                   -                     -                     -                     -                90,486                        -             90,486 
Total contributions /(distributions)                   -                     -                     -           503,603              81,746                        -           585,349 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2020           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                       10      6,543,410 

The accompanying notes and significant accounting policies form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 20           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                        -        6,543,400 

Profit/(loss) for the year                   -                     -                     -                     -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,314,112 
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -                        -                          -             (8,135)
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -             (8,135)                   -          1,319,309                 (5,197)      1,305,977 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Additional Share Capital      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -                     -                        -                          -           525,605 
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           624,274                      -                          -           624,274 
Share issue cost           (2,499)           (2,499)
Transfer of non-controlling interest to equity                     510                510 
Total contributions /(distributions)      1,274,970       (749,365)                   -           621,775                      -                       510      1,147,890 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2021      1,293,970         625,628                   -        1,125,378        5,956,978                 (4,687)      8,997,267 

For the year ended 31 December 2020

In thousands of naira Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Fair value 

reserves

Prepaid 
share capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Non-controlling 
interest

  Total 
equity 

Balance as at 1 January 2020 18           19,000      1,374,993                   -          6,489,678                       10      7,883,681 

Loss for the year                   -                     -                     -         (1,933,755)                        -      (1,933,755)
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI 18(d)             8,135                      -                          -               8,135 
Total comprehensive income                   -                     -               8,135       (1,933,755)                        -      (1,925,620)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Deposit for shares                   -                     -                     -           503,603                      -                          -           503,603 
Dividend to equity holders                   -                     -                     -                     -                (8,740)                        -             (8,740)
Acquisition of shares of subsidiary - common control                   -                     -                     -                     -                90,486                        -             90,486 
Total contributions /(distributions)                   -                     -                     -           503,603              81,746                        -           585,349 

                  -   
Balance at 31 December 2020           19,000      1,374,993             8,135         503,603        4,637,669                       10      6,543,410 

The accompanying notes and significant accounting policies form an integral part of these financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
Notes to the Financial Statements

(c) Revenue

i) Revenue from rental income

ii)

iii)

Revenue from services to tenants

Revenue from sale of trading property
i) Completed inventory property
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when 
control transfers. For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this 
generally occurs when all significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers which is usually within six months from the 
date when contracts are signed.

ii) Inventory property under development
The Group considers whether there are promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs 
to be allocated. For contracts relating to the sale of property under development, the Group is responsible for the overall management of the project and 
identifies various goods and services to be provided, including design work, procurement of materials, site preparation and foundation pouring, framing 
and plastering, mechanical and electrical work, installation of fixtures (e.g., windows, doors, cabinetry, etc.) and finishing work. The Group accounts for 
these items as a single performance obligation because it provides a significant service of integrating the goods and services (the inputs) into the 
completed property (the combined output) which the customer has contracted to buy.

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an investment property. In addition, the Group subleases investment property acquired under head leases with lease terms exceeding 12 months at
commencement. Subleases are classified as a finance lease or an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather
than by reference to the underlying investment property. All the Group’s subleases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue
in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease incentives are recognised as a
reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any
further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably certain that the tenant
will exercise that option.

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that fall within the scope of IFRS 16.
These agreements include certain services offered to tenants (i.e., customers) including common area maintenance services (such as cleaning, security,
adverts, car parking, utilities etc.). The consideration charged to tenants for these services includes fees charged based on a percentage of the rental
income and reimbursement of certain expenses incurred. These services are specified in the lease agreements and separately invoiced.

The Group has determined that these services constitute distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from the right to use the underlying asset)
and are within the scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services represent a series of daily services that are individually satisfied over time because the tenants
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group. The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure progress.
The consideration charged to tenants for these services is based on a percentage of the rental income. The variable consideration only relates to the non-
lease component and is allocated to each distinct period of service (i.e., each day) as it meets the variable consideration allocation exception criteria.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of these services to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts as a principal in relation to these
services as it controls the specified services before transferring them to the customer. Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
Notes to the Financial Statements

(c) Revenue

i) Revenue from rental income

ii)

iii)

Revenue from services to tenants

Revenue from sale of trading property
i) Completed inventory property
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when 
control transfers. For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this 
generally occurs when all significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers which is usually within six months from the 
date when contracts are signed.

ii) Inventory property under development
The Group considers whether there are promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs 
to be allocated. For contracts relating to the sale of property under development, the Group is responsible for the overall management of the project and 
identifies various goods and services to be provided, including design work, procurement of materials, site preparation and foundation pouring, framing 
and plastering, mechanical and electrical work, installation of fixtures (e.g., windows, doors, cabinetry, etc.) and finishing work. The Group accounts for 
these items as a single performance obligation because it provides a significant service of integrating the goods and services (the inputs) into the 
completed property (the combined output) which the customer has contracted to buy.

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an investment property. In addition, the Group subleases investment property acquired under head leases with lease terms exceeding 12 months at
commencement. Subleases are classified as a finance lease or an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather
than by reference to the underlying investment property. All the Group’s subleases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue
in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease incentives are recognised as a
reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any
further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably certain that the tenant
will exercise that option.

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that fall within the scope of IFRS 16.
These agreements include certain services offered to tenants (i.e., customers) including common area maintenance services (such as cleaning, security,
adverts, car parking, utilities etc.). The consideration charged to tenants for these services includes fees charged based on a percentage of the rental
income and reimbursement of certain expenses incurred. These services are specified in the lease agreements and separately invoiced.

The Group has determined that these services constitute distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from the right to use the underlying asset)
and are within the scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services represent a series of daily services that are individually satisfied over time because the tenants
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group. The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure progress.
The consideration charged to tenants for these services is based on a percentage of the rental income. The variable consideration only relates to the non-
lease component and is allocated to each distinct period of service (i.e., each day) as it meets the variable consideration allocation exception criteria.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of these services to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts as a principal in relation to these
services as it controls the specified services before transferring them to the customer. Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross basis.
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(d) Other income

(e)

(f) Taxation

Income tax expense

(ii) Minimum tax

(iii) Education tax

For contracts that meet the over time revenue recognition criteria, the Group’s performance is measured using an input method, by reference to the costs 
incurred to the satisfaction of a performance obligation (e.g., resources consumed, labour hours expended, costs incurred, time elapsed or machine hours 
used) relative to the total expected inputs to the completion of the property. The Group excludes the effect of any costs incurred that do not contribute to 
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services to the customer (such as unexpected amounts of wasted materials, labour or other 
resources) and adjusts the input method for any costs incurred that are not proportionate to the Group’s progress in satisfying the performance obligation 
(such as uninstalled materials).

(i) Current tax 

Other income represents income generated from sources other than rental deposits and income directly related to the Group's operations. 

Minimum tax which is based on a gross amount is outside the scope of IAS 12 and therefore, are not presented as part of income tax expense in the profit
or loss. The Company is subject to the Finance Act (amendments made to Companies Income Tax Act (CITA)). Total amount of tax payable under the
new Finance Act shall not be less than 0.25% of the Company's gross turnover less franked investment income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income for the year determined in accordance with Companies Income Tax Act (CITA) using tax rates 
statutorily enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is 
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and is assessed as follows:

- Company income tax is computed on taxable profits
- Tertiary education tax is computed on assessable profits
- National Information Technology Development Agency levy is computed on profit before tax
- Nigeria Police Trust Fund levy is computed on net profit (i.e. profit after deducting all expenses and taxes from revenue earned by the company during
the year)
Total amount of tax payable under CITA is determined based on the higher of two components namely Company Income Tax (based on taxable income
(or loss) for the year); and minimum tax. Taxes based on profit for the period are treated as income tax in line with IAS 12.

Other operating expenses
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows, depletion of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result
in decrease in equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity participants.
Expenses are recognized on an accrual bases regardless of the time of spending cash. Expenses are recognized in the income statement when a decrease in
future economic benefit related to a decrease in an assets or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.

Expenses are measured at historical cost. Assets are recorded at the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or their fair value of consideration given.
Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds received in exchange for the obligation. Only the portion of cost of a previous period that is related to
the income earned during the reporting period is recognized as an expense. Expenses that are not related to the income earned during the reporting period,
but expected to generate future economic benefits, are recorded in the financial statement as assets. Expense incurred by the Group during the year under
review are depreciation expenses, audit fees, training, professional fees, insurance cost, repairs and maintenance etc.

Income tax expense comprises current tax (company income tax, tertiary education tax National Information Technology Development Agency levy and
Nigeria Police Trust Fund levy) and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. The Company had determined that interest and penalties relating to income taxes,
including uncertain tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore are accounted for under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

This represents 2.5% of assessable profit in accordance with the provision of the Education Tax (Amendment) Decree No 40 of 1998.
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(c) Revenue

i) Revenue from rental income

ii)

iii)

Revenue from services to tenants

Revenue from sale of trading property
i) Completed inventory property
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when 
control transfers. For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this 
generally occurs when all significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers which is usually within six months from the 
date when contracts are signed.

ii) Inventory property under development
The Group considers whether there are promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs 
to be allocated. For contracts relating to the sale of property under development, the Group is responsible for the overall management of the project and 
identifies various goods and services to be provided, including design work, procurement of materials, site preparation and foundation pouring, framing 
and plastering, mechanical and electrical work, installation of fixtures (e.g., windows, doors, cabinetry, etc.) and finishing work. The Group accounts for 
these items as a single performance obligation because it provides a significant service of integrating the goods and services (the inputs) into the 
completed property (the combined output) which the customer has contracted to buy.

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an investment property. In addition, the Group subleases investment property acquired under head leases with lease terms exceeding 12 months at
commencement. Subleases are classified as a finance lease or an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather
than by reference to the underlying investment property. All the Group’s subleases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue
in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease incentives are recognised as a
reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any
further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably certain that the tenant
will exercise that option.

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that fall within the scope of IFRS 16.
These agreements include certain services offered to tenants (i.e., customers) including common area maintenance services (such as cleaning, security,
adverts, car parking, utilities etc.). The consideration charged to tenants for these services includes fees charged based on a percentage of the rental
income and reimbursement of certain expenses incurred. These services are specified in the lease agreements and separately invoiced.

The Group has determined that these services constitute distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from the right to use the underlying asset)
and are within the scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services represent a series of daily services that are individually satisfied over time because the tenants
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group. The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure progress.
The consideration charged to tenants for these services is based on a percentage of the rental income. The variable consideration only relates to the non-
lease component and is allocated to each distinct period of service (i.e., each day) as it meets the variable consideration allocation exception criteria.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of these services to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts as a principal in relation to these
services as it controls the specified services before transferring them to the customer. Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross basis.
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Financial liabilities

(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
– the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
– how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
– how managers of the business are compensated.
– the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks
are managed;

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration
for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. 

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different.
 
If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received
as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
– fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in
the initial measurement of the asset; and
– other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
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(iv) Deferred tax

(g) Dividends

(h) Share capital, share premium and prepaid share capital reserves

(i)

(j) Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

(ii) Classification
Financial assets

Related parties include the holding company and other group entities. Directors, their close family members and any employee who are able to exert a
significant influence on the operating policies of the Group are also considered to be related parties. Key management personnel are also regarded as
related parties. Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.

Deferred tax is provided for using the liability method, which represents taxation at the current rate of corporate tax on all timing differences between the
accounting values and their corresponding tax values.

A deferred tax is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the amount will be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

The Group initially recognises placements and other investments on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognised
on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

The Group has two classes of shares, ordinary shares and preference shares. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When new shares are issued, they are
recorded in share capital at their par value. The excess of the issue price over the par value is recorded in the share premium reserve. The use of the share
premium account is governed by S.120(3) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act of Nigeria. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Group's
residual assets. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings
of the Group. 

The holders of preference shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time before the ordinary shareholders. The shares rank higher
than the ordinary shares with regard to the Group's residual assets. 
Prepaid capital reserves warehouses prepayments for shares that are yet to be issued to shareholders. There is no possibility of this prepayment
being reversed or refunded and the Company has an obligation to deliver these shares.

Prepaid capital reserves warehouses prepayments for shares that are yet to be issued to shareholders. There is no possibility of this prepayment being
reversed or refunded and the Company has an obligation to deliver these share.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends are recognised as liability and deduction in equity in the period they are declared. Dividend paid is recognised gross of withholding tax (WHT)
with the corresponding WHT remitted to tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Related parties
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Financial liabilities

(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
– the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
– how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
– how managers of the business are compensated.
– the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks
are managed;

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration
for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. 

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different.
 
If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received
as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
– fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in
the initial measurement of the asset; and
– other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
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(iv) Deferred tax

(g) Dividends

(h) Share capital, share premium and prepaid share capital reserves

(i)

(j) Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

(ii) Classification
Financial assets

Related parties include the holding company and other group entities. Directors, their close family members and any employee who are able to exert a
significant influence on the operating policies of the Group are also considered to be related parties. Key management personnel are also regarded as
related parties. Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.

Deferred tax is provided for using the liability method, which represents taxation at the current rate of corporate tax on all timing differences between the
accounting values and their corresponding tax values.

A deferred tax is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the amount will be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

The Group initially recognises placements and other investments on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognised
on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

The Group has two classes of shares, ordinary shares and preference shares. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When new shares are issued, they are
recorded in share capital at their par value. The excess of the issue price over the par value is recorded in the share premium reserve. The use of the share
premium account is governed by S.120(3) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act of Nigeria. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Group's
residual assets. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings
of the Group. 

The holders of preference shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time before the ordinary shareholders. The shares rank higher
than the ordinary shares with regard to the Group's residual assets. 
Prepaid capital reserves warehouses prepayments for shares that are yet to be issued to shareholders. There is no possibility of this prepayment
being reversed or refunded and the Company has an obligation to deliver these shares.

Prepaid capital reserves warehouses prepayments for shares that are yet to be issued to shareholders. There is no possibility of this prepayment being
reversed or refunded and the Company has an obligation to deliver these share.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends are recognised as liability and deduction in equity in the period they are declared. Dividend paid is recognised gross of withholding tax (WHT)
with the corresponding WHT remitted to tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Related parties
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Measurement of ECL

Credit-impaired financial assets

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Write off

(k) Investment property

(i) Recognition and measurement

Investment property comprises completed property and property under development or re-development that is held, or to be held, to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when it is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment property comprises principally offices, commercial warehouse and retail property that are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the
operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. These
buildings are substantially rented to tenants and not intended to be sold in the ordinary course of business.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease
receivables are (referred to as ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired financial assets’). A financial asset is when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or
a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. Recoveries of amounts
previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
– financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive) and
– financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
– significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
– a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
– the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
– it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross
carrying amount of the assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair values of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. For the purposes of these financial statements, in order to avoid double counting, the fair value reported in the financial statements is:

• Reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income resulting from the spreading of lease incentives and/or minimum lease payments.

• In the case of investment property held under a lease, increased by the carrying amount of any liability to the head lessor that has been recognised in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services
and (only in case of investment property held under a lease) initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable
f ti
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Financial liabilities

(v) Offsetting

(vi) Fair value measurement

(vii) Impairment

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, 
a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the
modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities,
the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification.
Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a Group of similar
transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘12 months ECL financial instruments’. Life-time ECL are the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised
but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Lifetime ECL not-credit financial instruments’.

Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is
regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing
basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration
given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to
be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between
the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the
life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long positions at a bid price and
liabilities and short positions at an ask price. The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
– financial assets that are debt instruments;
– Cash equivalent
– Trade and other financial assets
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:
– debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
– other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. This Lifetime ECL is measured using the simplified
approach. The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood
definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments. 
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Financial liabilities

(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
– the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
– how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
– how managers of the business are compensated.
– the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks
are managed;

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration
for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. 

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower/counterparty, then the gain or loss is presented together with
impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different.
 
If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received
as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
– fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in
the initial measurement of the asset; and
– other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
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(ii) Transfer to/from investment properties

(iii) Subsequent costs

(iv) Derecognition

(l) Trading property

(m) Borrowing cost

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as trading 
property and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV).
Principally, this is residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before, or on completion of, development.
Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and condition includes:
• Freehold and leasehold rights for land
• Amounts paid to contractors for development
• Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes, development overheads and other related
costs
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When a trading property is sold, the carrying amount of the property is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The carrying amount of inventory property recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the directly attributable costs incurred on the
property sold and an allocation of any other related costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

Borrowing costs are recognized, as an expense, in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized. Borrowing costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset when it is
probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the entity and that the costs can be measured reliably.
 
Borrowing costs that are capitalised as part of investment property are interest expense incurred on borrowings obtained specifically for the construction
of the investment property. 

Capitalisation of borrowing cost commences when expenditure for the investment property is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the investment property for its intended use are in progress. Capitalisation ceases when the activities necessary to
prepare the investment property for its intended use are substantially complete.

The cost of replacing a part of an investment property is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. 

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of investment property are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Investment property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control of the investment property in
accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied in IFRS 15) or when it is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 

The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. In
determining the amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property, the Group considers the
effects of variable consideration, the existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the buyer (if
any) in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is evidence of a change in use (such as commencement of development or inception
of an operating lease to another party). 

For a transfer from investment property to inventories, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If an
inventory property becomes an investment property, the difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group considers as evidence the commencement of development with a view to sale (for a transfer from investment property to inventories) or
inception of an operating lease to another party (for a transfer from inventories to investment property).
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Measurement of ECL

Credit-impaired financial assets

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Write off

(k) Investment property

(i) Recognition and measurement

Investment property comprises completed property and property under development or re-development that is held, or to be held, to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when it is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment property comprises principally offices, commercial warehouse and retail property that are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the
operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. These
buildings are substantially rented to tenants and not intended to be sold in the ordinary course of business.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease
receivables are (referred to as ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired financial assets’). A financial asset is when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or
a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. Recoveries of amounts
previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
– financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive) and
– financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
– significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
– a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
– the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
– it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross
carrying amount of the assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair values of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. For the purposes of these financial statements, in order to avoid double counting, the fair value reported in the financial statements is:

• Reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income resulting from the spreading of lease incentives and/or minimum lease payments.

• In the case of investment property held under a lease, increased by the carrying amount of any liability to the head lessor that has been recognised in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services
and (only in case of investment property held under a lease) initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable
f ti
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Financial liabilities

(v) Offsetting

(vi) Fair value measurement

(vii) Impairment

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, 
a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the
modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities,
the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification.
Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a Group of similar
transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘12 months ECL financial instruments’. Life-time ECL are the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised
but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Lifetime ECL not-credit financial instruments’.

Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is
regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing
basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration
given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to
be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between
the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the
life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long positions at a bid price and
liabilities and short positions at an ask price. The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
– financial assets that are debt instruments;
– Cash equivalent
– Trade and other financial assets
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:
– debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
– other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. This Lifetime ECL is measured using the simplified
approach. The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood
definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments. 
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(n) Property and equipment
(i)   Recognition and measurement

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

 (ii) Subsequent costs

(iii)  Depreciation

Plant and Machinery 3 years
Computer and office equipment 4 years
Motor vehicle 4 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years

(iv)  Work in progress

(v)  Derecognition

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Any gain or losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the item) is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

An item of property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

 Capital work in progress, which represents property and equipment under construction, is not depreciated. Upon completion, the cost attributable to each 
asset is transferred to the relevant asset category. 

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset, to their residual values over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation begins when an asset is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is derecognised or classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations). A non-current asset or disposal group is not depreciated while it 
is classified as held for sale.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the following:
- the cost of materials and direct labour;
- any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
- when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located and;
- capitalised borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
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(ii) Transfer to/from investment properties

(iii) Subsequent costs

(iv) Derecognition

(l) Trading property

(m) Borrowing cost

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as trading 
property and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV).
Principally, this is residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before, or on completion of, development.
Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and condition includes:
• Freehold and leasehold rights for land
• Amounts paid to contractors for development
• Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes, development overheads and other related
costs
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When a trading property is sold, the carrying amount of the property is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The carrying amount of inventory property recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the directly attributable costs incurred on the
property sold and an allocation of any other related costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

Borrowing costs are recognized, as an expense, in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized. Borrowing costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset when it is
probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the entity and that the costs can be measured reliably.
 
Borrowing costs that are capitalised as part of investment property are interest expense incurred on borrowings obtained specifically for the construction
of the investment property. 

Capitalisation of borrowing cost commences when expenditure for the investment property is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the investment property for its intended use are in progress. Capitalisation ceases when the activities necessary to
prepare the investment property for its intended use are substantially complete.

The cost of replacing a part of an investment property is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. 

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of investment property are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Investment property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control of the investment property in
accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied in IFRS 15) or when it is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 

The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. In
determining the amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property, the Group considers the
effects of variable consideration, the existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the buyer (if
any) in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is evidence of a change in use (such as commencement of development or inception
of an operating lease to another party). 

For a transfer from investment property to inventories, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If an
inventory property becomes an investment property, the difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group considers as evidence the commencement of development with a view to sale (for a transfer from investment property to inventories) or
inception of an operating lease to another party (for a transfer from inventories to investment property).
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Measurement of ECL

Credit-impaired financial assets

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Write off

(k) Investment property

(i) Recognition and measurement

Investment property comprises completed property and property under development or re-development that is held, or to be held, to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when it is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment property comprises principally offices, commercial warehouse and retail property that are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the
operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. These
buildings are substantially rented to tenants and not intended to be sold in the ordinary course of business.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease
receivables are (referred to as ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired financial assets’). A financial asset is when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or
a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. Recoveries of amounts
previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
– financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive) and
– financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
– significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
– a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
– the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
– it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross
carrying amount of the assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair values of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. For the purposes of these financial statements, in order to avoid double counting, the fair value reported in the financial statements is:

• Reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income resulting from the spreading of lease incentives and/or minimum lease payments.

• In the case of investment property held under a lease, increased by the carrying amount of any liability to the head lessor that has been recognised in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services
and (only in case of investment property held under a lease) initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable
f ti
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(vi) Impairment
Non-financial assets 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”).  
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(n) Property and equipment
(i)   Recognition and measurement

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

 (ii) Subsequent costs

(iii)  Depreciation

Plant and Machinery 3 years
Computer and office equipment 4 years
Motor vehicle 4 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years

(iv)  Work in progress

(v)  Derecognition

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Any gain or losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the item) is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

An item of property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

 Capital work in progress, which represents property and equipment under construction, is not depreciated. Upon completion, the cost attributable to each 
asset is transferred to the relevant asset category. 

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset, to their residual values over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation begins when an asset is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is derecognised or classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations). A non-current asset or disposal group is not depreciated while it 
is classified as held for sale.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the following:
- the cost of materials and direct labour;
- any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
- when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located and;
- capitalised borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
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(ii) Transfer to/from investment properties

(iii) Subsequent costs

(iv) Derecognition

(l) Trading property

(m) Borrowing cost

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as trading 
property and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV).
Principally, this is residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before, or on completion of, development.
Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and condition includes:
• Freehold and leasehold rights for land
• Amounts paid to contractors for development
• Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes, development overheads and other related
costs
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When a trading property is sold, the carrying amount of the property is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The carrying amount of inventory property recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the directly attributable costs incurred on the
property sold and an allocation of any other related costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

Borrowing costs are recognized, as an expense, in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized. Borrowing costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset when it is
probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the entity and that the costs can be measured reliably.
 
Borrowing costs that are capitalised as part of investment property are interest expense incurred on borrowings obtained specifically for the construction
of the investment property. 

Capitalisation of borrowing cost commences when expenditure for the investment property is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the investment property for its intended use are in progress. Capitalisation ceases when the activities necessary to
prepare the investment property for its intended use are substantially complete.

The cost of replacing a part of an investment property is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. 

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of investment property are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Investment property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control of the investment property in
accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied in IFRS 15) or when it is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 

The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. In
determining the amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property, the Group considers the
effects of variable consideration, the existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the buyer (if
any) in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is evidence of a change in use (such as commencement of development or inception
of an operating lease to another party). 

For a transfer from investment property to inventories, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If an
inventory property becomes an investment property, the difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group considers as evidence the commencement of development with a view to sale (for a transfer from investment property to inventories) or
inception of an operating lease to another party (for a transfer from inventories to investment property).
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(vi) Impairment
Non-financial assets 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”).  

29

Purple Real Estate Income Limited
Annual report 

31 December 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Notes to the Financial Statements

(n) Property and equipment
(i)   Recognition and measurement

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

 (ii) Subsequent costs

(iii)  Depreciation

Plant and Machinery 3 years
Computer and office equipment 4 years
Motor vehicle 4 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years

(iv)  Work in progress

(v)  Derecognition

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Any gain or losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the item) is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

An item of property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

 Capital work in progress, which represents property and equipment under construction, is not depreciated. Upon completion, the cost attributable to each 
asset is transferred to the relevant asset category. 

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset, to their residual values over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation begins when an asset is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is derecognised or classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations). A non-current asset or disposal group is not depreciated while it 
is classified as held for sale.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the following:
- the cost of materials and direct labour;
- any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
- when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located and;
- capitalised borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
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(vi) Impairment
Non-financial assets 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”).  
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(c) Revenue

i) Revenue from rental income

ii)

iii)

Revenue from services to tenants

Revenue from sale of trading property
i) Completed inventory property
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when 
control transfers. For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this 
generally occurs when all significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers which is usually within six months from the 
date when contracts are signed.

ii) Inventory property under development
The Group considers whether there are promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs 
to be allocated. For contracts relating to the sale of property under development, the Group is responsible for the overall management of the project and 
identifies various goods and services to be provided, including design work, procurement of materials, site preparation and foundation pouring, framing 
and plastering, mechanical and electrical work, installation of fixtures (e.g., windows, doors, cabinetry, etc.) and finishing work. The Group accounts for 
these items as a single performance obligation because it provides a significant service of integrating the goods and services (the inputs) into the 
completed property (the combined output) which the customer has contracted to buy.

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an investment property. In addition, the Group subleases investment property acquired under head leases with lease terms exceeding 12 months at
commencement. Subleases are classified as a finance lease or an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather
than by reference to the underlying investment property. All the Group’s subleases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue
in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease incentives are recognised as a
reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any
further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably certain that the tenant
will exercise that option.

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that fall within the scope of IFRS 16.
These agreements include certain services offered to tenants (i.e., customers) including common area maintenance services (such as cleaning, security,
adverts, car parking, utilities etc.). The consideration charged to tenants for these services includes fees charged based on a percentage of the rental
income and reimbursement of certain expenses incurred. These services are specified in the lease agreements and separately invoiced.

The Group has determined that these services constitute distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from the right to use the underlying asset)
and are within the scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services represent a series of daily services that are individually satisfied over time because the tenants
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group. The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure progress.
The consideration charged to tenants for these services is based on a percentage of the rental income. The variable consideration only relates to the non-
lease component and is allocated to each distinct period of service (i.e., each day) as it meets the variable consideration allocation exception criteria.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of these services to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts as a principal in relation to these
services as it controls the specified services before transferring them to the customer. Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross basis.
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